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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COU/RT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF COLORADO

U.S. Commodity Futures Trading
Commission,

Case No. 1:12-cv-01932-JLK
Plaintiff,

V.

Michael Gale, individually and d/b/a Capital
Management Group

Defendant.

N N N N N N N N N N N N N

CONSENT ORDER FOR PERMANENT INJUNCTION, CIVIL MONETARY PENALTY
AND OTHER EQUITABLE RELIEF AGAINST DEFENDANT MICHAEL GALE,
INDIVIDUALLY AND D/B/A CA PITAL MANAGEMENT GROUP

I. INTRODUCTION

On July 25, 2012, Plaintiff Commodity Fu#s Trading Commission (“Commission” or
“CFTC”) filed a Complaint against Michael Gal&ale”), individually and doing business as
Capital Management Group (“CMG”) (collectiyel'Defendant”), seekim injunctive and other
equitable relief, as well as the imposition aofilcpenalties, for violdons of the Commaodity
Exchange Act (*Act”), 7 U.S.C. 88 dt seq. (2006 and Supp. 2009), as amended by the Dodd-
Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Prmd@cAct of 2010 (“Dodd-Frank Act”), Pub. L.
No. 111-203, Title VII (the Wall Street Trarmency and Accountability Act of 2010), 8§ 701-
774, 124 Stat. 1376 (enacted July 21, 20ttObe codified at 7 U.S.C. §8el seq., and the
Commission’s RegulationsRRegulations”) promulgateitiereunder, 17 C.F.R. 88letlseq.
(2012). (Doc. 1.) The Court &med, among other things, exparte statutory restraining order
against Defendant on July 25, 2012 (Doc. Jdn)Amended Statutory Restraining Order on

August 1, 2012 (Doc. 13 ), and a Consent Order for Preliminary Injunction and Other Ancillary
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Relief Against Defendant (“PI1 Order”) on Augful4, 2012. (Doc. 20.) The PI Order froze
assets under Defendant’s contpiphibited further violations of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C.
88 let seq., and the Regulations, 17 C.F.R. 88dt.4eq., ordered an accounting of assets,
permitted CFTC access to all of Defendant’s books and records, and prohibited the destruction of
documents.
The parties have agreedtte® entry of this Conse@rder for Permanent Injunction,
Civil Monetary Penalty and Other Equitable Rélj*Consent Order”), which will resolve the

CFTC's enforcement action.

[I. CONSENTS AND AGREEMENTS

To effect settlement of all charges alleged in the Complaint against Defendant Gale,
individually and d/b/a CMGwithout a trial on the merits @ny further judicial proceedings,
Defendant Gale:

1. Consents to the entry of this Cons@muder for Permanent Injunction, Civil
Monetary Penalty and Other EquitabldiBeAgainst Defendant Michael Gale;

2. Affirms that he has read and agreed to @ussent Order voluntarily, and that no
promise, other than as specifically containekime or threat, has been made by the Commission
or any member, officer, agent or representatieeddf, or by any other person, to induce consent
to this Consent Order;

3. Acknowledgeservice of the summons and Complaint;

4. Admitsthe jurisdiction of this Court over hiand the subject mattef this action
pursuant to Section 6¢ of the Aaes amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1;

5. Admitsthe jurisdiction of the Commission aviae conduct andansactions at

issue in this action pursuatat the Act, 7 U.S.C. 88 & seq.;



6. Admits that venue properly lies with thiso@rt pursuant to Section 6¢(e) of the
Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(e);

7. Waives:

(a) any and all claims that he mayspess under the Equal Access to Justice Act,
5 U.S.C. § 504 (2006) and 28 U.S.C. § 24AQ06), and/or the rules promulgated by the
Commission in conformity therewith, Pa48 of the Regulations, 17 C.F.R. 8§88 148&.4eq.
(2012), relating to, or aiiizg from, this action;

(b) any and all claims that Ineay possess under the Small Business Regulatory
Enforcement Fairness Act of 1996, PubNo. 104-121, 88§ 201-253, 110 Stat. 847, 857-868
(1996), as amended by Pub. L. No. 110-283@2, 121 Stat. 112, 204-205 (200r8lating to, or
arising from, this action;

(c) any claim of Double Jeopardy basgubn the institution of this action or the
entry in this action of any order imposing a kmionetary penalty or gother relief, including
this Consent Order; and

(d) any and all rights afppeal from this action;

8. Consentgo the continued jurisdiction of thiSourt over him for the purpose of
implementing and enforcing the terms and coaddiof this Consent Order and for any other
purpose relevant to this action, evedfendant now or in the future residmgside the
jurisdiction of this Court;

9. Agreesthat he will not oppose enforcementtbis Consent Order by alleging that
it fails to comply with Rule 65(d) of the Beral Rules of Civil Ryicedure and waives any

objection based thereon;



10.  Agreesthat neither he nor any of his ageateemployees undéis authority or
control shall take any action or make any pubtatement denying, diry or indirectly, any
allegation in the Complaint or the Findings of FacConclusions of Law in this Consent Order,
or creating or tending to credtee impression that the Complaint and/or this Consent Order is
without a factual basis; providehowever, that nothing in thmovision shall affect his:

(a) testimonial obligations, or (bight to take legal positions mther proceedings to which the
Commission is not a party. Defendant shall undergédiksteps necessary to ensure that all of his
agents and/ or employees under his authority or control understand and comply with this
agreement; and

11. By consenting to the entry ofithConsent Order, neither admsr denies the
allegations of the Complaint or the Findingg=aict and Conclusions of Law in this Consent
Order, except as to jurisdiction and venwhich he admits. Further, Defendant agraed
intendsthat the allegations contained in the Conmland all of the Fidings of Fact and
Conclusions of Law contained in this Consendé€rshall be taken asug and correct and be
given preclusive effect, withottirther proof, in the course df) any current or subsequent
bankruptcy proceeding filed by, on behalf ofagainst Defendant; (b) any proceeding pursuant
to Section 8a of the Act, as amended, 7 U.§.02a, and/or Part 3 ttie Regulations, 17 C.F.R.
88 3.let seq. (2012); and/or (c) any proceeding to entothe terms of this Consent Order.

12.  Agrees to provide immedianotice to this Court and the Commission by certified
mail, in the manner required by paragraph 62 of Padf\is Consent Order, of any
bankruptcy proceeding filed by, on behalf ofagainst him, whether inside or outside the

United States, and



13.  Agrees that no provision of this Consé@rder shall in any way limit or impair
the ability of any other person or entity tekeny legal or equitable remedy against Defendant
in any other proceeding.

[ll. FINDINGS AND CONCLUSIONS

The Court, being fully advised in the presssfinds that there is good cause for the entry
of this Consent Order and ththere is no just reason for delayhe Court therefore directs the
entry of the following Findings of Fact, Conclass of Law, permanent injunction and equitable
relief pursuant to Section 6c¢ of the Act,aasended, 7 U.S.C. § 13aas set forth herein.
THE PARTIES AGREE AND TH E COURT HEREBY FINDS:

A. Findings of Fact
1. The Parties To This Consent Order

14.  Plaintiff Commodity Futures Trading @onission is an independent federal
regulatory agency that is charged by Congresis administering and enforcing the Act, as
amended, 7 U.S.C. 88el seg., and the Regulations promutgd thereunder, 17 C.F.R. 88 &1
seq. (2012).

15. Defendant Michael Gale, individually adding business as Capital Management
Group, is sixty-four years old amesides in Littleton, ColoraddGale has acted as a commodity
pool operator (“CPQO”) by soliditg, accepting, and pooling particigdands for the purpose of
trading them in commodity futures in accounts heltis and his wife’s names. Gale has never
been registered with the Consgion in any capacity. Gale did business as CMG when soliciting
and receiving commodity pool (“B8) participants’ funds. CNb has never been registered
with the Commission in any capac#énd has never filed for inquoration, or registered as a

limited liability company, sole proprietsiip, or otherwise with any state.



2. Gale’s Commodity Futures Trading Accounts

16. Gale maintained and controlled two frga trading accounts cad at registered
futures commission merchants (“FCMs”) during pams of the relevant time. He maintained
one as a joint futuregsading account in his and his wgenames at FCM A, account XXX81,
and another at FCM B, account XXX29, aladiis and his wife’s names.

17.  Gale opened account XXX81 on or about May 13, 2009, and represented in
opening account documents that fands on deposit with FCM A we proprietary and did not
represent the interest§ any pools, third party individuals, or companies. Gale further
represented that he did not hold himself owtrgaging in the busise of investing capital
contributions from other participants in the commodity futures markets.

18.  On approximately June 3, 2009, Gale funded account XXX81 with a $100,000
wire transfer from one of Gakeaccounts at Bank A. WhéfCM A guestioned Gale about the
source of the funds in his tragj account, Gale responded thatftiveds originated from the sale
of an investment property. Gale did not make sutysequent deposits into that trading account.

19. Between June 3, 2009 and May 20, 2010 Gale suffered net losses of
approximately $6,798 trading e-minis in agat XXX81 at FCM A. Account XXX81 only
netted profits in two months during thie of the account; $108.40 in August 2009 and $169.80
in May 2010. Gale also withdrew approxit@g $92,992 from that account between June 3,
2009 and April 27, 2012. The account was dormant after May 20, 2010, until the remaining
balance of $491.80 was wired to Gale’s@mt at Credit Union A on April 27, 2012.

20. Gale opened account XXX29 at FCMoR approximately November 10, 2009,
and he represented in opening account documeattshin funds in the aount were proprietary

and that the account dit contain any third pty customer funds.



21. Between November 13, 2009 and September 15, 2011, Gale deposited $170,000
into account XXX29. From November 13, 200gotigh July 31, 2012, Gale suffered net losses
of approximately $56,226 trading e-minis and N¥ Crude futures contracts. Gale also
withdrew approximately $112,000 from accodixX29 during that time period. Account
XXX29 netted profits in six months duringettife of the account ranging from $16.18 to
$7,737.10. Gale has not placed any trades@ount XXX29 since approximately July 24, 2012
and the account has maintaineadance of $1,294.13 since July 31, 2012.

3. Solicitation Fraud

22.  During the relevant time, Gale actedasa€PO by soliciting andccepting at least
$891,526 from at least nine participants for thgppse of trading futusecontracts in a pooled
account at FCM A.

23.  On multiple occasions when soliciting and accepting funds, Gale falsely
represented to actual and prospecPool participants that hgersonal trading and his trading
for the Pool was profitable and thaeir funds would be used tatte e-minis in the Pool. Gale
knew that these representations were falseoame¢klessly disregardehe truth while making
them.

24,  For example, between summer 2007 and April 2009, Gale solicited funds for the
Pool from two prospective participants by représig that he “specialized” in trading e-minis
and that he had been successful trading contynfadures for his personal account and for
others. He told one prospective Pool participant that “[nJormal proceedshe last 5 years is
about $2,000,000.00 on a 2,000,000.00 basis, or abou®a R@ after expenses and my fee is
deducted.” Gale also told thatospective Pool parijgant that the “fee fotrading the account is
20% of the profits of the presis months earnings after tradicgmmissions are taken out.” He

further confirmed that the only fees charged ®PRwool included the cost of a charting package,



exchange access fees, a subsaniptee related to trawg education, wire &msfer fees, postage,
and the cost of a new laptoprnesputer when necessary.

25.  Gale also misrepresented the risks asgediwith commodity futures trading. In
an attempt to persuade anothepPparticipant to increase hewvestment, Gale promised a “net
20% return” and guaranteed that she could not “vedeiss than the initial investment.” Gale
also told that Pool participant that her invegtingas secured by his life insurance policy and he
gave her a copy of a “Codicil mmend life insurance from desigrédteeneficiaries to the estate
of Michael B. Gale,” to thatfeect. The insurance company hasraoord of any such Codicil.

26.  To further perpetuate his frauddhinduce actual and prospective Pool
participants to invest money and/or remain in the Pool, @Faleared and delivered false tax
records for 2006, 2007, and 2008. Specifically gpraximately April 2009, Gale faxed at least
one prospective Pool participant fictitious Form 1099-Bs from 2006 through 2008, all of which
purportedly reflected profits exceeding $2.4 raillin FCM A account XX96 in the name of
Michael Gale DBA Capital Management Group.fact, FCM A carries account XX96 in the
name of one of Gale’s sons; it was notrgek until February 2007nd the account suffered
losses in both 2007 and 2008.

27.  In approximately October 2009, Gale semo fictitious 1099-Bs for 2008 to at
least one other Pool participantresponse to thato®l participant’'s and her husband’s concerns
about the Pool and in an attempt to persuaado increase her investment in the Pool.
Specifically, Gale sent that Pool participéme same false Form 1099-B for 2008 for account
XX96 referenced above, along with a@ed fictitious Form 1099-B for 2008, which
purportedly reflected profits exceeding $200,000 for FCM A account XX23 in the name of

Michael Gale. In fact, FCM A carries account XX23 in the name of an unrelated individual.



Gale does not own or control the accouramy way, and that account lost $1,510 in 2008.
Nonetheless, Gale represented to that Paticgzant that the Form 1099-Bs showed trading
profits from his personal account and an accdlait he traded as a business.

28.  On approximately August 31, 2009, less thaa months before Gale sent at least
one Pool participant the false Form 1099-Bs f2Z008 and represented that he made “almost 3
million dollars last year[,]” he filed for bankrugt protection in the United States Bankruptcy
Court for the District of Colorado (Case 1:09-28171). In his voluntary petition for Chapter 7
bankruptcy protection, Gale reggented that he had no gross income in 2007 and 2008 and that
he earned only $32 in stock dividends in 2008.

4. Defendant’s False Account Statementsna Reports to Pool Participants

29.  During the relevant period, Gale faxedemnailed at least one Pool participant a
fictitious trading account statement that misrepresgthe value of the Pool. For example, in
approximately April 2009, Gale faxed a Pool ga#paint one page of a “brokerage statement,”
purportedly from FCM A, which reflects a batanin the trading account exceeding $3.5 million.
He represented to that Pool participant thatithlance shown on the account statement reflected
the total amount of funds in the Pool.

30. Gale also provided false reports to at least one Pool participant reflecting positive
returns in the Pool. For exg@he, he wrote to one Pool phi@ipant during an online Skype
discussion that his share of the Pool nesi@dofit each month between May and December
2009 ranging from $17,570 to $25,125. Similarlyyween May and September 2010, Gale sent
at least eight emails to adst one Pool participareporting on the Pool’s performance from
January through July 2010. Theals noted profits for thatd®l participant ranging from
$7,850 to $12,225 for each month, and monthly profits ranging from $21,150 to $23,225 for

another Pool participant.



5. Defendant Commingled and Misappropriated Pool Participants’ Funds

31. Between approximately April 9, 2009 addne 15, 2010, two Pool participants
sent via Federal Express and/or hand delivesedchecks made out to Gale for a total of
approximately $700,000 for the purpose of trgdéaminis. Gale deposited those Pool
participants’ funds in one or more bank accounBaaitk A. He represented to those two Pool
participants that their fundgould be pooled in FCM A account XX96 for the purpose of trading
e-minis. Gale opened account XX96 in his sar@me, and Gale represented in account opening
documents that only his son owned, controlled bad authority to trade in that account.
Statements for account XX96 only show demosft$29,870 from an account in Gale’s son’s
name at Bank B on or before February 25, 2009.

32.  Another Pool participant sent Galeleast three checks made out to him for a
total of approximately $30,000 between February 9, 2008 and October 16, 2008. He told that
Pool participant that her funds would pp@oled in FCM A account XXX81. However, Gale
deposited that Pool participant’s funds in @nenore bank accounts ims name and did not
open FCM A account XXX81 until the next year, on approximately May 13, 2009.

33. Gale made payments to at least siolPparticipants taling at least $437,577.35
between approximately August 30, 2008 and &atyr 13, 2012, which he represented as
reflecting profits.

34.  Gale misappropriated a substantial porabi?ool participats’ funds since at
least February 9, 2008. Gale used some Pattpants’ funds for personal and/or business
expenses and to pay other Pool participantsermanner of a Ponzi sehe. He never disclosed
to Pool participants that their funds wddde, or had been, used for these purposes.

35. Gale failed to operate the Pool as a separate legal entity and accepted monies from

Pool participants for the purchase of interesth@Pool made payable to him. While acting as a

10



CPO, Gale commingled funds received from Rumaoticipants by depositing such monies into
bank and trading accounts containing his anki®wife’s personal funds, as well as funds of
others received by him.

36.  Although required to be regfered, Defendant was natgistered with the
Commission in any capacituring the relevant time.

37. Gale engaged in the acts and practaescribed above in Paragraphs 16 through
36 knowingly or with recklesdisregard for the truth.
B. Conclusions of Law

1. Jurisdiction and Venue

38.  This Court has jurisdiction over this actiparsuant to Section 6c of the Act, as
amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, whicloyides that whenever it shalppear to the Commission that
any person has engaged, is engagings about to engage imyact or practice constituting a
violation of any provision of the Act or any rulegulation, or order proanfgated thereunder, the
Commissiomrmay bring an action in the proper distcturt of the United States against such
person to enjoin such act orgtice, or to enforce compliance with the Act, or any rule,
regulation or order thereunder.

39.  Venue properly lies with this Court puesut to Section 6¢(e) of the Act, as
amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1(e), because the Deferaades in this jurigdtion and the acts and
practices in violation of the A®ccurred within this District.

2. Commodity Futures Fraud

40. By the conduct described in paragragbshrough 37 above, Defendant cheated
and defrauded, or attempted to cheat and defi@d willfully deceived, or attempted to
deceive, Pool participants/, among other things, knowingly or recklessly: i) egesenting to

actual and prospective Pool participants the vafibe Pool, that the Pool was profitable, and
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that he was a successful commodity futures tragdailing to disclose trading losses and
failing to inform participants that he filed f@ankruptcy protection; iiijnisrepresenting that
commodity trading accounts were opened famdled for the Pool's customers and that
commodity trades were placed for their accountgen in fact, no accounts in the name of the
Pool were opened; iv) misappropriating a porobiool participants’ funds; and v) making or
causing to be made false statements, tax recand#or reports to actual and prospective Pool
participants while acting as a CPO, in viatatiof Section 4b(a)(2)(and (iii) of the Act,

7 U.S.C. 8§ 6b(a)(2)(i), (iii), wh respect to acts occurring bedalJune 18, 2008, and in violation
of Section 4b(a)(1)(A) and (C) of the Act as autbed, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(1)(A),
(C), with respect to acts oacing on or after June 18, 2008.

41. By the conduct described in paragraphs 29 through 30 above, Defendant willfully
made or caused to be made false reportsatersents to the Pool participants, including by
sending at least one Pool pagant a fictitious trading accotistatement misrepresenting the
value of the Pool and providing false reportattteast one Pool participant reflecting positive
returns in the Pool, imiolation of Section 4b(42)(ii) of the Act, 7 US.C. 8§ 6b(a)(2)(ii), with
respect to acts occurring before June 18, 2008iravidlation of Secthn 4b(a)(1)(B) of the Act
as amended, to be codified at 7 U.S.C. § 6bJ@j1with respect to astoccurring on or after
June 18, 2008 .

3. Fraud by a CPO

42. By the conduct described in parggina 16 through 37 above, Defendant, while
acting as a CPO, directly ardirectly employed a device, scheme artifice to defraud Pool
participants and engaged in tsastions, practices, or a coutdéusiness which operated as a
fraud or deceit upon Pool participants through use of the mails or other means of

instrumentalities by, among other things: i) r@esenting to actual and prospective Pool

12



participants the value of the Pool, that the Read profitable, and that he was a successful
commodity futures trader; ii) failing to disclosading losses and failing to inform participants
that he filed for Bankruptcy protection; imisrepresenting that oumodity trading accounts
were opened and funded for the Pool’'s custoraedsthat commodity trades were placed for
their accounts, when in faato accounts in the nametbe Pool were opened;
iv) misappropriating a portion ¢fool participants’dnds; and v) making or causing to be made
false statements, tax recordsdéor reports to actland prospective Pool participants while
acting as a CPO, in violation of Section(#)(A) and (B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. ®@L)(A) and (B)
(2006).

4. Failure to Register as a CPO

43. By the conduct described in paragraphs 16 through 37 above, Defendant acted as
a CPO without the benefit of registration with the Commission as a CPO, and in connection with
his CPO businesses, made use of the mailsher ateans or instrumentalities of interstate
commerce in violation of Section 4m(@fthe Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006).

5. Failure to Operate Pool as a Separate lgal Entity, Accepting Funds in His Own
Name, and Commingling Pool Funds

44. By the conduct described in parggina 16 through 37 above, Defendant, while
acting as a CPO, failed to operate the Poollaga entity separate from that of the CPO and
accepted monies from Pool participants for the Ipage of interests in the Pool in his own name,
in violation of Regulation 4.20(a)s), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(a)-(b) (2012).

45, By the conduct described in parggna 16 through 37 above, Defendant, while
acting as a CPO, commingled furtgs received from Pool parp@ants by depositing such funds
into bank and trading accounts contag his and/or his wife’s persahfunds as well as funds of

others received by Defendamt,violation of Regulation 4c), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(c) (2012).
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46. Unless restrained and enjoined by this Cainere is a reasonable likelihood that
the Defendantvill continue to engage in the acts andgidices alleged in the Complaint and in

similar acts and practices in vaion of the Act and Regulations.

IV. PERMANENT INJUNCTION

IT IS HEREBY ORDERED THAT:

47. Based upon and in connection with theefgoing conduct, pursuant to Section 6¢
of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 13a-1, badat is permanently restrained, enjoined and
prohibited from diredy or indirectly:

a. Cheating or defrauding, or attemptingcteeat or defraud other persons and
willfully deceiving or attempting taeceive other persons by making false,
deceptive or misleading representations of material facts, by failing to disclose
material facts, or by misappropriating ausier funds in or in connection with
orders to make, or the making of cowtsaor sale of commodities for future
delivery, made or to be made for or ornélkt of any other person, in violation of
Section 4b(a)(1)(A) an€C) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(1)(A), (C);

b. Willfully making false reports or statements or causing false reports or statements
to be made to other persons, in ocamnection with any order to make, or the
making of, any contract of sale of anymmmodity for future delivery that is made,
or to be made, for or on behalf of,with, any other person, in violation of
Section 4b(a)(1)(B) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6b(a)(1)(B);

c. Employing a device, scheme, or artificedefraud any client or participant or
prospective client or particgmt, or engaging in traastions, practices, or courses
of business which operate as a fraundleceit upon anyone through use of the
mails or other means of instrumentalit@#snterstate commerce, in violation of
Section 40(1)(A) and (B) of the Ac7 U.S.C. § 60(1)(A) and (B);

d. Making use of the mails or any meansrmtrumentalities of interstate commerce
while acting as a CPO without the benefiregistration with the Commission as
a CPO, in violation of Section 4m(1) of the Act, 7 U.S.C. § 6m(1) (2006); and

e. While acting as a CPO, failing to operatpool as a legal entity separate from
that of the CPO, accepting monies frpool participants for the purchase of
interests in a pool in his own name, awnmingling pool participant funds with
his own funds, in violation of Regulan 4.20(a)-(c), 17 C.F.R. § 4.20(a)-(c)
(2012).

14



48.

indirectly:

Defendant islso permanently restrained, enjoirset! prohibited from directly or

. Trading on or subject to theles of any registered entity (as that term is defined

in Section la of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § l1a);

. Entering into any transactions involg commodity futures, options on

commodity futures, commodity options ¢ast term is defined in Regulation 1.3
(hh), 17 C.F.R. 8 1.3(hh) (2012)) (“cororlity options”), security futures

products, and/or foreign currency (asc@ed in Sections 2(c)(2)(B) and
2(c)(2)(C)(i) of the Act, as amendedU.S.C. 88 2(c)(2)(B) and 2(c)(2)(C)(i))
(“forex contracts”), and/or swaps (as therim is defined in Section 1a(47) of the
Act, as amended, and as further defined by Commission regulation 1.3(xxx), 17
C.F.R. 8 1.3(xxx)), for his own persoradcount or for any account in which he
has a direct or indirect interest;

. Having any commodity futures, options on commaodity futures, commodity

options, security futures products, fomntracts and/or swaps traded on his
behalf;

. Controlling or directing thérading for or on behalf of any other person or entity,

whether by power of attorney or otheése, in any account involving commodity
futures, options on commodity futures, commodity options, security futures
products, forex contragtand/or swaps;

Soliciting, receiving or accepting anynfls from any person for the purpose of
purchasing or selling any commoditytdves, options on commodity futures,
commodity options, security futures protkidorex contracts and/or swaps;

Applying for registratioror claiming exemption from registration with the
Commission in any capacity, and eggey in any activityrequiring such
registration or exemption from regiation with the Commission, except as
provided for in Regulation 4.14(a)(9)7 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2012); and/or

Acting as a principal (as that terndisfined in Regulation 3.1(a), 17 C.F.R.

§ 3.1(a) (2012)), agent or any other offi or employee adny person (as that

term is defined in Section la of the Act, as amended, 7 U.S.C. § 1a) registered,
exempted from registration or requiredbe registered with the Commission
except as provided for in Regulation 4.14(a)(9), 17 C.F.R. § 4.14(a)(9) (2012).

15



V. RESTITUTION AND CI VIL MONETARY PENALTY

A. Restitution

49. Defendanshall pay restitution in the amounitfour hundred and seventy-nine
thousand, four hundred and two dadland thirty five cents ($479,402.35IRestitution
Obligation”), plus post-judgment interest. Rpgtgment interest shall accrue on the Restitution
Obligation beginning on the date of entry of t@isnsent Order and shall be determined by using
the Treasury Bill rate prevailing on the date airgiof this Consent Order pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
§ 1961.

50. To effect payment of the Restitution Obligation and the distribution of any
restitution payments to Defendant’s pool paragits, the Court appoints the National Futures
Association (“NFA”) as Monitor (“Monitor”). The Monitor shall collect restitution payments
from Defendantind make distributions as set forth beloBecause the Monitor is acting as an
officer of this Court in performing these servictege NFA shall not be liable for any action or
inaction arising from NFA’s appointment Bkonitor, other than actions involving fraud.

51. Defendanshall make Restitution Obligatiggayments under this Consent Order
to the Monitor in the name “Defendant GalRestitution Fund” and shall send such Restitution
Obligation payments by electronic funds transbey U.S. postal money order, certified check,
bank cashier’s, or bank money order, te @ifice of Administration, National Futures
Association, 300 South Riverside Plaza, &a800, Chicago, lllinois 60606 under cover letter
that identifies the paying Dafdant and the name and docket number of this proceeding.
Defendant shall simultaneously transmit copies efdbwver letter and the form of payment to the
Chief Financial Officer, Commodity Futuresatling Commission, Three Lafayette Centre, 1155

21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581.
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52.  The Monitor shall oversee the RestitutiObligation and shall have the discretion
to determine the manner of dibution of such funds in an equitable fashion to Defendaitd
participantadentified by the Commissioor may defer distribution until such time as the
Monitor deems appropriate. In the event thatamount of Restitution Obligation payments to
the Monitor are of @e minimis nature such that the Monitortdemines that the administrative
cost of making a distribution &ligible pool participants is ipractical, the Monitor may, in its
discretion, treat such restitati payments as civil monetary penalty payments, which the
Monitor shall forward to the Commission followitige instructions for civil monetary penalty
payments set forth in Part V.B, Paragraph 59, below.

53. Defendanshall cooperate with the Monitas appropriate to provide such
information as the Monitor deems necessay appropriate to ideryi Defendant’s pool
participants to whom the Monitan its sole discretion, may deteima to include in any plan for
distribution of any Restitutio@bligation payments. Defendastiall execute any documents
necessary to release funds that he has imegpository, bank, investment or other financial
institution, wherever located, in order to madeetial or total payment toward the Restitution
Obligation.

54.  The Monitor shall provide the Commissiontla¢ beginning of each calendar year
with a report detailinghe disbursement of funds to Deéant’s pool participants during the
previous year. The Monitor sh&ransmit this report under a caMletter that idetifies the name
and docket number of this proceeding to the Chief Financial Officer, Commodity Futures
Trading Commission, Three Lafayette Cenfr&s5 21st Street, NW, Washington, D.C. 20581.

55. The amounts payable to each Partictpnall not limit the ability of any

Participant from proving that a greater amourtvied from Defendant or any other person or
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entity, and nothing herein shall be construedng way to limit or abridge the rights of any
Participant that exist undstate or common law.

56. Pursuant to Rule 71 of the Federal Rue€ivil Procedure, each Participant of
Defendant who suffered a loss is explicitly made an intended third-party beneficiary of this
Consent Order and may seek to enforce obedieinttes Consent Order to obtain satisfaction of
any portion of the restitution & has not been paid by Defendant to ensure continued
compliance with any provision of this Consentl@rand to hold Defendant in contempt for any
violations of any provision of this Consent Order.

57. To the extent that any funds accrue to the U.S. Treasury for satisfaction of
Defendant’sRestitution Obligation, such funds shiadl transferred to the Monitor for
disbursement in accordance with the procedures set forth above.

B. Civil Monetary Penalty

58. Defendanshall pay a civil monetary penality the amount of seven hundred and
fifty thousand dollars ($750,000) (“CMP Obligationpjus post-judgment interest. Post-
judgment interest shall accrue on the CMP Otliligebeginning on the date of entry of this
Consent Order and shall be determined by usiegteasury Bill rate prevailing on the date of
entry of this Consent Order pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1961 (2006).

59. Defendanshall pay his CMP Obligation by eleghic funds transfer, U.S. postal
money order, certified check, bank cashier’'s checkank money order. If payment is to be
made other than by electronic funds transfemithhe payment shall be made payable to the

Commodity Futures Trading Commissiand sent to the address below:
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Commodity Futures Trading Commission

Division of Enforcement

ATTN: Accounts Receivables — AMZ 340

E-mail Box: 9-AMC-AMZ-AR-CFTC

DOT/FAA/MMAC

6500 S. MacArthur Blvd.

Oklahoma City, OK 73169

Telephone: (405) 954-5644
If payment by electroniauihds transfer is chosen, Defendaralsbontact Linda Zurhorst or her
successor at the address above to receive paynsémictions and shall fully comply with those
instructions. Defendashall accompany payment of the CMPIi@&tion with a cover letter that
identifies Defendant and the name and docket number of this proceeding. De$iadlant
simultaneously transmit copies of the cover ledtedt the form of payment to the Chief Financial
Officer, Commodity Futures Trading Commimsj Three Lafayette Centre, 1155 21st Street,
NW, Washington, D.C. 20581.

C. Provisions Related to Monetary Sanctions

60. Partial Satisfaction: Any acceptance by ommission or the Monitor of partial
payment of Defendant’s Restitution ObligationGWP Obligation shall not be deemed a waiver
of his obligation to make further payments pursdarhis Consent Order, or a waiver of the
Commission’s right to seek to compel payment of any remaining balance.

D. Cooperation

61. Defendanshall cooperate fully and expeditiousiyth the Commission, including
the Commission’®ivision of Enforcement, and any othgovernmental agency in this action,
and in any investigation, civil litigation, or administrative matédated to the subject matter of

this action or any current or future @mission investigation related thereto.
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VI. MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS

62. Notice: All notices required to bewvgin by any provision in this Consent Order
shall be sent certified mail, return receipt requested, as follows:
Notice to Commission:

Rosemary Hollinger

Associate Director

CFTC Division of Enforcement

525 West Monroe, Suite 1100

Chicago, lllinois 60661
Notice to Defendant Michael Gale, individiyaand d/b/a Capital Management Group:

Michael Gale

6771 S. Kendall Blvd.

Littleton, Colorado 80128
All such notices to the Commission shall refeestite name and docket number of this action.

63. Change of Address/Phone: Until sutche as Defendant satisfies in full his
Restitution Obligation and CMP Obligation as settfaon this Consent Order, Defendant shall
provide written notice to the Commission by dextl mail of any change to his telephone
number and mailing address within {@®) calendar days of the change.

64. Entire Agreement and Amendments: T@snsent Order incorporates all of the
terms and conditions of the settlement among thigegehereto to dateNothing shall serve to
amend or modify this Consent Order in any ez$pvhatsoever, unless: (a) reduced to writing;
(b) signed by all partigsereto; and (c) approvdxyy order of this Court.

65. Invalidation: If any provigin of this Consent Order drthe application of any
provision or circumstance is lldenvalid, then the remaindef this Consent Order and the

application of the provision to any other persortircumstance shall not be affected by the

holding.
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66. Waiver: The failure of any party to thidonsent Order or any Participant at
any time to require performance of any provissdthis Consent Order shall in no manner affect
the right of the party or Participant at a laterdita enforce the same or any other provision of
this Consent Order. No waiver in one or mmstances of the breach of any provision contained
in this Consent Order shdle deemed to bar construed as a further continuing waiver of
such breach or waiver of the breaclan§ other provision ahis Consent Order.

67.  Continuing Jurisdiction of thi€ourt: This Court shall retain jurisdiction of this
action to ensure compliance with this Conserde®and for all other purposes related to this
action, including any motion by Defendant to modifyfor relief from the terms of this Consent
Order.

68. Injunctive and Equitable Relief ProvisionEhe injunctive and equitable relief
provisions of this Consent Order shalllbeding upon Defendantipon any person under his
authority or control, ashupon any person who reees actual notice of this Consent Order, by
personal service, e-malil, facsimile or otherwisefimsas he or she is g in active concert or
participation with Defendant.

69. Counterparts and Facsimile Execution:isTBonsent Order may be executed in
two or more counterparts, all of which shall be considered one and the same agreement and shall
become effective when one or more countergat® been signed by each of the parties hereto
and delivered (by facsimile, e-mail, or otherwis®}he other party, it loeg understood that all
parties need not sign the same counterpart. cdayterpart or other sighae to this Consent
Order that is delivered by any means shallbemed for all purposes constituting good and

valid execution and delivery by such party of this Consent Order.
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70.  Defendanunderstandthat the terms of the Consent Order are enforceable
through contempt proceedings, and that, in any such proceedings he may not challenge the
validity of this Consent Order.

There being no just reason for delay, the ICtdrthe Court is hereby directed to enter
this Consent Order for Permanent Injunction, Civil Monetary Penalty and Other Equitable

Relief Against Defendant Michael Gale Individually and D/B/A Capital Management Group.

IT IS SO ORDERED on this 2%' day of _June, 2013.

s/John L. Kane
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE

CONSENTED TO AND APPROVED BY:

Isl /sl
Michael Gale, individuldy and d/b/a Capital  Allison Passman/Trial Attorney
Management Group Commodity Futures Trading Commission
6771 S. Kendall Blvd. 525 West Monroe, Suite 1100
Littleton, Colorado 80128 Chicago, lllinois 60661

312-596-0704
Date: 3/8/13 312-596-0714 (facsimile)

apassman@cftc.gov

Dated 6/20/13
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